ATK 82 2015

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

No. 325776

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

ROIL ENERGY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company, by and through the derivative claim of ALLAN HOLMS, a married man and a Washington resident; and ALLAN HOLMS, individually, a married man and a Washington Resident,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

I. INTRODUCTION

This case is about unabashed greed involving a brazen conspiracy of one brother against another brother. The unlawful conduct involves one brother depriving the other of an agreed benefit of the bargain from a joint venture consisting of the commercial development and marketing of certain oil field mineral rights in McKenzie County, North Dakota.

Prior to 2009, Defendant Val Holms inherited property in North Dakota known as the McKenzie County Mineral Interests (the "Mineral Interests"). However, Val's negligible financial resources and poor business acumen prevented him from developing or capitalizing on his inherited Mineral Interests. Accordingly, in late 2009, Val offered to share his Mineral Interests "50/50" with his half-brother² (hereinafter "brother") Plaintiff Allan Holms, in exchange for Allan providing funding for a development and capitalization project. Allan accepted his brother's offer and proposed to develop Val's inherited Mineral Interests through the use of an existing public company, a process known as "Reverse

¹ Janwillem Van de Wetering (Author, 1931-2008).

² Allan Holms and Val Holms are half-brothers, having the same father, Archie Holms. For clarity, first names will be used where appropriate. No disrespect is intended.

Merger." Allan then introduced brother Val to Jay Edington, a business acquaintance of Allan's who had experience using public corporations as investment vehicles for raising capital.

By late February 2010, Edington and brothers Allan and Val had commenced a joint venture by forming a private company called Roil Energy, LLC ("Roil Energy"). As a result, on February 19, 2010, Val conveyed his Mineral Interests deeds to Roil Energy. Then, at a meeting in Butte, Montana, Val gave *notarized* copies of the executed deeds to his brother Allan. In turn, based upon Val's representations that the original deeds had been sent to North Dakota to be recorded, Allan provided "seed money" to Roil Energy to cover the joint venture's immediate needs (including brother Val's salary), plus another \$40,000 on behalf of the joint venture to purchase shares in Edington's public "shell" company. At the time, Allan was ready, willing, and able to perform his balance of all other commitments to the joint venture.

However, in early March 2010, brother Val abruptly announced to Allan via email that he (Val) intended to abandon their joint venture and he would keep the Mineral Interests. Despite Allan's substantial

³ In a "Reverse Merger," "a private company will contribute its assets to a publicly traded company that usually has no operations [i.e., the 'shell'] ... and ends up with the majority of the stock of the shell[.]" RP 1016. Thus, "the private company's shareholders end up with controlling interest in the shell." Id.

investment of time and money, Allan nonetheless accepted as truthful and supported Val's representations that the venture would be abandoned.

The fact is, Val's representations to his brother were blatant lies. Val had no intention of keeping his Mineral Interests. Rather, in a classic act of betrayal and avarice, Val conspired with Edington to eliminate Allan from the joint venture. Indeed, by or about February 24, 2010, Val and Edington had secretly developed a "Plan B", their deception involving "circumventing and deceiving Allan Holms into believing that Val Holms was going to keep his minerals to himself and not move forward with the reverse merger/capitalization plan." CP 4431. Thus, Allan was fraudulently induced to abandon his involvement in the joint venture.

Unbeknownst to Allan, brother Val had surreptitiously formed a new private company (Defendant Holms Energy, LLC ("Holms Energy")) and did in fact complete a Reverse Merger with Defendant Bakken Resources, Inc.⁴ ("Bakken" or "BRI"). Bakken was a "shell" company controlled by Edington's daughter. When Allan later discovered his brother's betrayal and fraudulent misconduct, he brought individual and derivative claims on behalf of Roil Energy in Spokane Superior Court

⁴ Bakken is a Nevada corporation formerly known as Multisys Language Solutions, Inc. CP 4422.

seeking damages and re-conveyance of the Mineral Deeds back to Roil Energy.

After a two-week bench trial before Judge Linda G. Tompkins, Allan individually was awarded judgment against Defendants Val Holms, Holms Energy, and Bakken for fraud, breach of fiduciary duties, oppression of minority interest, and civil conspiracy to commit those torts. Plaintiff Roil Energy was awarded judgment against Val Holms, Holms Energy, and Bakken for fraud, breach of fiduciary duties, and civil conspiracy. In addition, a declaratory judgment was granted finding that the attempted dissolution of Roil Energy by Defendant Val Holms was unlawful and ineffective under Nevada law, and was an integral part of Defendants' conspiracy to defraud Plaintiff Roil Energy. The Court further declared Allan's derivative actions to be successful in part and awarded him \$412,933.08 in attorney fees and costs.

However, despite granting declaratory judgment to the Plaintiffs, the Trial Court nonetheless committed reversible error in: (1) concluding that no enforceable agreement or contract for a joint venture was made by and between brothers Allan and Val Holms; (2) concluding that extrinsic evidence of Val Holms' subjective intent to conditionally deliver executed and acknowledged Mineral Deeds defeated the plain language of the

⁵ Defendant Jay Edington settled with Plaintiffs prior to trial. CP 2235-38.

Deeds, thus preventing their delivery as a matter of law; (3) refusing to award damages and/or impose a constructive trust; and (4) dismissing Plaintiffs' Tortious Interference with Business Expectancy claims on summary judgment.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Trial Court erred in concluding that no enforceable agreement or contract for a joint venture was made by and between brothers Allan and Val Holms.
- 2. The Trial Court erred in concluding that extrinsic evidence of Val Holms' subjective intent to conditionally deliver executed and acknowledged Mineral Deeds defeated the plain language of the Mineral Deeds preventing delivery as a matter of law.
- 3. The Trial Court erred in refusing to award damages and/or impose a constructive trust.
- 4. It was error to dismiss Plaintiffs' Tortious Interference with Business Expectancy claims on summary judgment.

III. <u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. Whether the Trial Court erred in concluding that no enforceable agreement or contract for a joint venture was made by and between brothers Allan and Val Holms?
- 2. Whether the Trial Court erred in concluding that extrinsic evidence of Val Holms' subjective intent to conditionally deliver executed and acknowledged Mineral Deeds defeated the plain language of the Mineral Deeds preventing delivery as a matter of law?
- 3. Whether the Trial Court erred in refusing to award damages and/or a constructive trust?

4. Whether it was error to dismiss Plaintiffs' Tortious Interference with Business Expectancy claims on summary judgment?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Plaintiff Allan Holms – Architect of the Reverse Merger.

In November 2009, Defendant Val Holms faced a grim and uncertain financial future. RP 1219-20. He had inherited certain mineral interests located in McKenzie County, North Dakota (the "Mineral Interests") (RP 1213-14), which he transferred into his wholly owned Nevada company, Defendant Toll Reserve Consortium, Inc. ("Toll Reserve") (now known as "Holms Energy Development Corporation"). CP 4422. Yet, Val lacked the financial resources and business acumen to capitalize on his inherited mineral rights. RP 1219-20. After he failed to qualify for a commercial loan, Val approached his brother Allan requesting a loan of \$80,000 to start an auto repair shop. RP 1218-20. Allan instead encouraged Val to develop his inherited Mineral Interests by means of a Reverse Merger involving an existing public company. RP 1222. Allan then introduced Val to a business acquaintance who had experience using public corporations as investment vehicles for raising capital. RP 1223-24. That acquaintance was Jay Edington. Id.

After the initial meeting with Edington, Val "pressed the issue" of capitalizing his Mineral Interests through a Reverse Merger. RP 285. In

doing so Val offered to "share 50/50 down the line" with his brother in exchange for Allan providing funding for the venture. <u>Id.</u>; Exs. P-163, P-165. As Allan later explained, "I had responsibilities I had to contribute to make this all work, and he offered half his minerals to me." CP 3967 (emphasis added).

By January 2010, the three men – brothers Allan and Val, and Edington – agreed (1) to form a private Nevada limited liability company (Roil Energy) to hold legal title to the Mineral Interests and (2) to use their equity interest in Roil Energy to acquire a majority of shares and board control of a public "shell company." Exs. P-31, P-35, P-94. Val's contribution was to be the Mineral Interests while Edington was to locate an appropriate public corporation employing his skill and experience in capitalizing companies by means of a Reverse Merger. RP 291. Allan, who was the architect of the Reverse Merger strategy and the one who brought the parties together, agreed to provide approximately \$200,000 in seed capital and to raise approximately \$2 million from private equity investors. CP 4423-24; RP 291-92, 1231.

In exchange for their respective promised contributions to the joint venture, brothers Allan and Val agreed to modify their 50/50 agreement and to compensate Edington for employing his "sweat equity" with a 20 percent ownership interest in the to-be formed Nevada LLC. RP 331, 632;

Exs. P-163, P-165. In doing so, the Holms brothers agreed to remain in an equal equity position with respect to one another, with each brother owning a 40 percent interest. <u>Id.</u>

By 1/19/2010, Val "ha[d] put together a company profile on power point," but was "[s]till waiting for the laundry list" of action items. Ex. P-52. The following day, 1/20/2010, Allan provided the "laundry list" and cautioned Val, "[m]ost importantly, you have to come to grips with the contribution of your interest in the oil patch to a new company." Ex. P-54. Allan continued: "you are forming a new corporation and you are contributing your leases and the royalty income generated from those leases. In other words, the title to the properties will transfer to the new corporation [Roil Energy]." Id. Further, Allan assured his brother that "[t]he success of the entity will depend on you, as its President and chief executive officer" and that the "most important item is you will be ... in control of your company." Id.

A few days later, on 1/23/2010, Val contacted Edington to arrange a meeting of the joint venturers. Ex. P-55. On 1/24/2010, Val told Edington to "[b]e patient" and assured him that "if we all hang together it will be a big time winner for us all." Id.

B. Edington Identifies The Public "Shell Company."

On 2/1/2010, Edington identified "APD Antiquities, Inc." ("APD") as the public "shell" company targeted by their joint venture. Ex. P-67. Because APD was undercapitalized, Edington proposed that Allan, on behalf of the joint venture, "purchase shares from some of the existing shareholders of [APD]" and "purchas[e] 2,500,000 shares directly from the company." Ex. P-120. By injecting investor capital into the "shell," Allan made it possible for the public company to eventually purchase the Mineral Interests, thereby completing the Reverse Merger. Id. Accordingly, in a series of emails dated 2/1/2010, Edington provided the Holms brothers with APD's shareholder list; a sample Stock Purchase Agreement; and a "standard asset acquisition agreement." Exs. P-71, P-72, P-74. In addition, Edington expressly confirmed that he "spoke with Val for a few minutes and advised him that we were moving quickly[.]" Ex. P-72.

On 2/10/2010, Allan notified Val that (1) "[w]e will be forming the LLC" in Nevada and – consistent with the brothers' 50/50 agreement – (2) "[o]wnership of the LLC would be Val Holms and Allan Holms." Ex. P-94.

On Saturday, 2/13/2010, "the responsibilities of each [party] were outlined in an action item and timeline chart prepared by Jay Edington

and presented to Val and Allan[.]" CP 4424, Finding No. 15. Notably, pursuant to Edington's week-by-week "Action Item and Time Line Chart" (the "Project Time Line"), Allan was not expected to fully fund his \$200,000 "seed money" commitment until 3/1/2010. Ex. P-101. The following Wednesday, 2/17/2010, Allan and Val received "Instructions for Acquisition of APD shares" from Edington. Ex. P-120. "As far as the funds for the LLC," Edington recommended to the Holms brothers "that [Allan] could make an initial deposit for \$40-50,000 for the express purpose of covering normal expense[.]" Id.; RP 629.

C. <u>Val Deeds His Mineral Interests To Newly-Formed Roil</u> Energy, LLC.

On 2/19/2010, Val Holms organized Roil Energy, LLC as a member-managed limited liability company by filing Articles of Organization with the Nevada Secretary of State. Ex. P-134. Brothers Val and Allan, along with Edington, were each designated a "manager-member" of Roil Energy. Ex. P-135. Roil Energy subsequently obtained a federal tax identification number and opened a bank account funded by Allan. Exs. P-132, P-129.

That same day, 2/19/2010, Val met with brother Allan in Butte, Montana. RP 366, 1237-38. Allan's wife, Robyn Holms, and Allan and Val's nephew, Tommy Greenfield, were also present during that meeting.

RP 1048, 963. Prior to their meeting, Val had prepared two "Mineral Deeds." RP 916-20; Ex. P-130; see Appendix A. It is beyond dispute that the Deeds were executed by "Val M. Holms, President, Toll Reserve Consortium" and properly notarized that same date. Id. Additionally, the plain language of the Deeds provides that Toll Reserve, as Grantor,

for and in consideration of the sum of Ten and no/100 Dollars (\$10.00), cash in hand paid and other good and valuable considerations, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, do[es] hereby grant, bargain, sell, convey, transfer, assign, and deliver of the below described mineral rights unto ROIL ENERGY, LLC ... all of Grantor's right, title, and interest in the oil, gas, and other minerals lying in and under and that may be produced from [the Mineral Interests].

<u>Id.</u> (emphasis added). Val gave notarized copies of the yet <u>unrecorded</u> Deeds to Allan, assuring him the original Deeds had been sent to the McKenzie County, North Dakota auditor for recording. RP 367-69, 1050-51.

Also at the Butte meeting, Allan and Val discussed Roil Energy's startup and payroll needs. RP 369. In direct reliance on Val's representations that the original notarized Deeds were sent to North Dakota for recording, Allan at Val's request, provided \$10,000 in initial seed capital to cover Roil Energy's immediate expenses, including brother Val's salary. Id.; Exs. P-128, P-129.

In addition, Edington later recalled that "when [Allan and Val] had the meeting in Butte ... the two of them had reached agreement" to modify the brothers' previous 50/50 agreement such "that it was 40 for Val, 40 for Allan and 20 for Jay." RP 632. Shortly after meeting with Allan in Butte, Val "called [Edington] and made the statement something to the effect, the deal's done. It's signed. Let's get ready to go, partner." RP 633.

D. The Parties Commence Joint Venture Business.

On 2/22/2010, Edington revised and updated the Time Line based on progress made to date by "designat[ing] with X" those items which "have been completed." Ex. P-137. Chief among the "completed" items – Val's obligation to "Assign Mineral Rights to Roil and properly record and file." Id. at Bates No. 166-67. Nothing in the revised and updated Time Line affected in any way the parties' mutual understanding that Allan was to "provide \$200,000 as Starting Equity" by 3/1/2010. Id.

At the same time (2/22/2010), Edington also provided "three draft documents" related to the Reverse Merger – (1) a "Securities Purchase Agreement"; (2) a "Written Consent of Directors" for the "shell" company; and (3) a "Material Definitive Agreement" required by the SEC. Id. By 2/23/2010, Edington had drafted a "Letter of Intent" between APD (the "shell" company) and Roil Energy concerning APD's purchase of Roil Energy's Mineral Interests (Ex. P-141), as well as an "Executive"

Summary" of the public "shell" for the joint venture to provide to would-be investors (Ex. P-147). Further, on 2/28/2010, Edington provided a draft of an Operating Agreement for Roil Energy. Ex. P-171. Thus, by the end of February 2010, their joint venture was substantially performed, but things were about to take a decided turn.

E. The "Plan B" Conspiracy Concocted To Eliminate Allan.

Unbeknownst to Allan, by 2/24/2010, Val and Edington had secretly developed their "Plan B"; a deception to "circumvent[] and deceiv[e] Allan Holms into believing that Val Holms was going to keep his minerals to himself and not move forward with the reverse merger/capitalization plan." CP 4431, Finding No. 54; Ex. P-154.

In fact, throughout late February and March 2010, Val repeatedly sent emails to Allan "ghost-written" and/or pre-approved by Edington. <u>Id.</u>
The sole purpose of those emails was to deceive Allan into believing that Val had abandoned their joint venture. <u>Id.</u> The goal was to fraudulently induce Allan to abandon his involvement in it as well. <u>Id.</u>

On 2/24/2010, in furtherance of their conspiracy to defraud Allan, Edington re-assured Val "the [P]lan B is feasible if we can each come up with \$25,000." Id. Later that same day, Edington provided Val with instructions about how to "create a new e-mail and hi[t] paste and it should be on the e-mail ready to go to Allan." Ex. P-155.

Indeed, the following day, 2/25/2010, Allan received a disturbing email, which at the time he believed was from his brother Val; but in reality it had been drafted by Edington:

I apparently overlooked a very important piece of the puzzle. I see that 2.5 million shares [of APD stock] are being purchased from the company ... and some additional shares from existing shareholders.

I am very disappointed that this has not been brought to my attention. Is it safe to assume that Iam (sic) participating in this transaction concerning these shares? Are they being purchased for all three of the partners or is this another one of your self enrichment (sic) deals that does not figure me into the equation?⁶

Exs. P-160, P-161.

On 2/26/2010, Allan – who at the time still had no knowledge that Val was in fact conspiring with Edington – reminded brother Val that "[t]he deal has not changed and is as discussed with you numerous times, we share everything 50/50" with respect to each other and (2) "[s]upposedly I receive my cost back in the future and we share those [APD] stocks 1/3; 1/3; and 1/3. They will not even be issued in my name." Ex. P-163 (emphasis added).

⁶ In fact, Val knew from at least 1/7/2010, that (1) Edington intended to "secure some options [for Allan] to purchase shares in the shell for a very nominal price" and (2) Allan would buy the shares "in such a way that it would inure to [Val's] financial benefit[.]" Ex. P-35. Further, Val received frequent updates and additional detailed information regarding the APD stock transactions. Exs. P-67, P-71, P-72, P-74, P-82.

Not only was Allan "currently putting up all of the money to buy the shares from existing people" (Id.), but Allan was instructed "to wire funds directly to APD today[.]" Ex. P-164. Accordingly, Allan requested of Val that "[i]f there is going to be a concern on your part, let me know before noon when I am supposed to send the wires." Ex. P-163 (emphasis added).

At approximately 11:30 that same morning (2/26/2010), Val unequivocally agreed: "Sounds good to me." Ex. P-165. Indeed, Val confirmed that he and brother Allan would "share everything 50/50" and instructed Allan to "[g]o ahead and wire the money" to purchase shares in the "shell" company, APD. Exs. P-163, P-165. In reliance on his brother's representations affirming the "50/50" deal between the brothers, Allan did in fact wire \$40,000 to purchase APD shares on behalf of their joint venture. Exs. P-120, P-248.

On 3/4/2010, Val abruptly announced to brother Allan via email that he (Val) intended to abandon their joint venture and keep the Mineral Interests. This change was allegedly based on a purported position articulated by Allan that he was "not wanting to go forward with it[.]" Ex. P-183. Unbeknownst to Allan, Val's 3/4/2010 email had been pre-sent to Edington for review and approval <u>before</u> being sent to Allan. Ex. P-182.

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