#### NO. 325776

#### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION III

ROIL ENERGY, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company, by and through the derivative claim of ALLAN HOLMS, a married man and a Washington resident; and ALLAN HOLMS, individually, a married man and a Washington resident,

#### Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

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

- A. All I know is that APD was a target for Roil Energy, and other than that, it's sort of his [Jay's] deal. I didn't...
- Q. What do you mean, "his deal"?
- A. Well, it was his that was his job. He was he was driving the bus here. Now, this is what we should be doing to get this public company up to speed.
- Q. When you say "driving the bus," I guess if you could explain a little more when you say he's driving the bus?
- A. Well, this is his area of expertise. This is what he does and this is stuff that he was suggesting. And, quite frankly, I read it today and really totally don't understand it.
- Q. You still don't understand it even when you read this today?
- A. Well, not totally. Conceptually, but not totally.

RP 315, lines 13-25, RP 316, lines 1-6.

Under cross-examination Allan responded to the following question from Val's counsel, Rob Greer:

- Q. Okay. And one of the things you were going to bring to this project or concept would be your business experience, in addition to your money?
- A. I would recast it. I think that my initial was the capital and Edington was bringing the technology, because it was an arena that I didn't know anything about. And Val was bringing the minerals. (Italics added). RP 444, lines 19-25.

The examples noted above put to rest any thoughts that Allan was the "architect who had originally conceived" the reverse merger plan that these three individuals were discussing. As Jay said in his February 20, 2010 email to Allan: "I am pretty certain that until you met me, you did not even understand the reverse merger concept." EX P-88 at Bates 0429.

Since Allan could not establish that there had been an enforceable joint venture agreement, or any agreement, among himself, Jay and Val, the trial court gave Allan another opportunity to establish some loss by inviting the parties to "brief and argue what, if any, facilitation value was lost to Allan by the fraudulent actions of Jay Edington and Val to exclude him." Conclusion of Law No. 30. CP 4438.

The trial court explained Conclusion of Law No. 30 on December 5, 2013 stating that she "recognized a potential for damages based on the facilitation value of Allan's placing Val and Jay and Allan together." RP 1436. What Allan did was to make an introduction. If he lost anything because of the actions of Val or Jay, Allan's loss is limited to what is commonly referred to as a "finder's fee".

Facilitation value means the value of Allan's introduction of Val to Jay, not what Allan lost by not participating in the APD reverse merger, because Allan had no enforceable agreement to participate in that transaction, which never occurred. Allan claims that the trial court's failure to award him facilitation value damages was inexplicable. To the contrary, Allan's failure to receive a facilitation damage award is easily

explained – he did not present any evidence to establish what the dollar amount of such facilitation value might be.

Allan makes much of the testimony of his expert, William Ross, who testified that Allan had brought value to "this enterprise". The problem is, Mr. Ross was never asked to place a dollar value on what he claims Allan's contributions were, nor was any value ever placed on those alleged contributions by any other witness.

Val does not dispute that Allan was not required to prove the exact amount of facilitation damages. However, "...the fact that the amount of damages need not be proved with precision does not allow a claimant to present no evidence regarding the amount." Mutual of Enumclaw v. Gregg Roofing, Inc., 178 Wn. App. 702, 715, ¶22, 315 P.3d 1143, (2013). "The amount of damages generally is a question of fact." Mutual of Enumclaw, 178 Wn. App. at 716, ¶23.

Allan failed to present even a scintilla of evidence as to what a reasonable facilitation or finder fee would be. William Ross gave absolutely no indication of what value to place on what he claimed Allan brought to the APD reverse merger under discussion.

"Damages must be proved with reasonable certainty or supported by competent evidence in the record." *Hyde v. Wellpinit School District No. 49*, 32 Wn. App. 465, 470, 648 P.2d 892 (1982). Although damages

do not have to be proven with exactness, a damage award cannot be made from whole cloth. There must be some evidence upon which to support a damage award. In this case, the record is completely devoid of any testimony that would support awarding any amount as a facilitator's fee to Allan. In fact, Allan made no attempt to present evidence as to what a reasonable facilitation fee might be. The amount of any loss that Allan may have incurred remains speculative; and would be based upon pure guesswork.

Allan's failure to present any evidence at trial regarding what a reasonable facilitation fee might be is not surprising, since he argued exclusively during the trial that he was entitled to 40%, based upon his 40/40/20 mantra. Recognizing the abject failure of proof of a facilitation value, Allan then says that he should have received what Jay Edington received in the transaction that he and Val ultimately put together. To make this argument, Allan misconstrues the basis for Jay's demand for a 20% share of the transaction the three of them were discussing. In his February 7, 2010 e-mail to Allan (EX P-88, Bates 0429), Jay recited the many responsibilities he would undertake, not only to complete the reverse merger under discussion, but on behalf of the public company if such a merger was completed.

Neither in this communication, nor in any of his testimony at trial, did Jay use the words facilitation fee or finder's fees. Rather, he compared the ownership interest he was requesting – 20% -- to the fee that agents and managers receive from professional athlete clients. Jay said: "In the case of a professional athlete, they pay their agents and managers up to 20% of their income to get these services." EXP-88.

The trial court recognized that Allan's introduction of Val to Jay was not comparable to Jay's efforts:

"30.a. However the contributions and share of earnings are not sufficiently comparable between Allan Holms and Jay Edington to form a fair basis for damages." Conclusion of Law 30.a., CP 4530.

Allan says in his brief that "he had earned at a minimum a facilitation fee" (Appellants' brief at page 49). But Allan produced no evidence upon which the trial court could determine what a facilitation fee would be. Allan made the tactical decision at trial that he wanted 40 percent or nothing. No in between. When he failed to prove his case, he then claimed that he was entitled to a fee of 20 percent. RP 1453. Then his attorneys at the January 24, 2014 hearing urged the court to award Allan "anywhere from 20% down to whatever below that you want to." RP 1457. So finally, in his brief, and by his attorneys at the January 24, 2014 hearing, Allan claims he is entitled to "something". RP 1456. But

that something is nowhere to be found in the evidence presented at trial. Allan, through his counsel, invited the trial court to speculate on what a facilitation value might be. RP 1456-1457. The trial court rightfully refused to engage in such speculation in the absence of any evidence of a dollar amount to be placed upon an alleged facilitation value.

### D. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Allan's Constructive Trust Claim.

Allan's argument for imposition of a constructive trust is founded upon the canard that Allan proved damages at trial.

The APD reverse merger that was being discussed by Val, Allan and Jay is markedly different from the MLS/BRI/Holms Energy transaction that actually occurred. The two transactions had substantially different elements, and the court correctly found that:

"26. . . . any income of BRI/Holms Energy, LLC is based on a completely different corporate structure than that developed with Allan Holms as a joint venturer." Conclusion of Law No. 26, CP 4437-38.

In this section of his brief, Allan abandons his claim for 40 percent, abandons his claim for 20 percent facilitation value, and abandons his claim for the court to award him "something", and seems to suggest that everything that Val received for his mineral interests should have been placed in a constructive trust for Allan's benefit. That would fit precisely within Allan's plan to steal his brother's minerals.

Allan, Val and Jay were discussing a possible reverse merger transaction, but "no enforceable agreement or contract was made . . .". Conclusion of Law No. 10, CP 4434. Therefore, "... Val Holms had the right to withdraw from the negotiations, and further had the right to develop his minerals interests by means of another transaction." Conclusion of Law No. 18, CP 4436. Since Allan did not prove that a contract existed giving him an ownership interest in the reverse merger under discussion, and since Val had the right to withdraw from the negotiations, Val did not gain something for himself which he should not be permitted to hold, nor has Val been unjustly enriched. There was no deal, and Allan lost nothing. To be sure, the court did find that there was "sufficient evidence of a direct loss suffered by Allan Holms" Conclusion of Law No. 28, CP 4438. But because there was no agreement reached by the parties, the trial court believed that loss was in the form of a facilitation value. As noted above, there was no proof as to that value, if any, and therefore the court could not make an award of damages to Allan.

### E. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed The Tortious Interference Claims.

#### 1. Standard Of Review For Summary Judgment Orders.

When reviewing a summary judgment order, the Appellate Court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). Under RAP 9.12, the Appellate

Court considers only the evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court. *Mielke v. Yellowstone Pipeline Company*, 73 Wn. App. 621, 870 P.2d 1005 (review denied) 124 Wn.2d 1030, 883 P.2d 326 (1994). In this regard, the Appellate Court will not consider an issue not raised below, including attempts to raise factual allegations at the appellate level that were not before the trial court in granting summary judgment. *Washington Federation of State Employees*, 121 Wn.2d 152, 163, 849 P.2d 1201 (1993).

2. Appellants' Allan Holms And Allan Holms Derivatively On Behalf Of Roil Energy Cannot, As A Matter Of Law, Prevail On Any Cause Of Action For Tortious Interference Of A Business Expectancy Against Val Holms Because A Party To A Contract Or A Party To An Alleged Business Relationship Or Expectancy Cannot Be Held Liable For Tortious Interference Of Such Contract Or Business Expectancy Or Relationship.

In the First Amended Complaint, Plaintiffs' allege that Defendants' Val Holms and Jay Edington and Plaintiff Allan Holms orally agreed to form a joint venture or enterprise to capitalize and market Val Holms' mineral interests. CP 1075. Plaintiffs' claimed that this joint venture or enterprise involved the transfer of Val's mineral interests into a limited liability company, Allan's contribution of seed capital in the approximate amount of \$200,000.00-\$250,000.00, Allan raising operating capital through private investors, and Jay contributing his expertise in putting together reverse mergers. CP 1076. Because Val, Allan, Jay, Roil

Energy, and APD (the target public shell corporation) were all parties to this proposed joint enterprise or joint venture and not strangers to the proposed transaction, plaintiffs' causes of action for tortious interference of a business expectancy are legally and factually unfounded and were properly dismissed by the trial court. CP 2187-2191.

Allan explained the proposed joint enterprise and reverse merger in his deposition and stated that Roil Energy and eventually Bakken Resources were not separate entities but instead were considered to be one and that Roil was never intended to be operating as everything was going into APD, the public shell corporation. CP2181, 2182, 2185.

The elements of a claim for tortious interference with a business relationship are: 1) The existence of a valid contractual relationship or business expectancy; 2) That defendants had knowledge of that relationship; 3) An intentional interference inducing or causing a breach or termination of the relationship or expectancy; 4) That the defendant interfered for an improper purpose or used improper means; and 5) resultant damages. *Commodore v. University Mechanical Contractors*, *Inc.*, 120 Wn.2d 120, 137, 839 P.2d 314 (1992).

In order to establish liability for tortious interference of a business relationship, the plaintiff must prove that the interferer was an intermeddling third party. *Vasquez v. State of Washington*, 94 Wn. App. 976,

989, 974 P.2d 348 (1999). A party to the relationship cannot be held liable for tortious interference. *Houser v. City of Redmond*, 91 Wn.2d 36, 39, 586 P.2d 482 (1978).

Washington case law is in accordance with other jurisdictions which follow the established legal principle that a party to a business relationship or contract cannot maintain a claim against another party to that transaction or business relationship for tortious interference. *Kasparian v. County of Los Angeles*, 38 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 242, 45 Cal. Rptr.2d 90 (1995). (Defendants cannot be held liable for tortious interference with their own economic relations. This tort can only be asserted against a stranger to the relationship); *Cantwell v. City of Boise*, 146 Idaho 127, 191 P.3d 205 (2008); *Genet v. Anheuser-Busch*, 498 So.2d 683 (Fla. App. 1986). (A cause of action for tortious interference does not exist against one who is himself a party to the business relationship allegedly interfered with").

A case illustrative of this established legal principle is the Alabama Supreme Court case *Bell South Mobility, Inc. v. Cellulink*, 814 So.2d 203 (Ala. 2001). In that case, Cellulink entered into an agreement with Bell South to market cellular telephone services to customers on behalf of Bell South. This agreement provided that Cellulink would market the cell phone services at a kiosk leased from a Walmart store. About a year and a

half after this arrangement was put in place, Bell South entered into an agreement with another company, Alltel, to market Bell South's cellular service through Walmart stores. Walmart then cancelled the kiosk lease with Cellulink, which resulted in Cellulink's lawsuit against Bell South for tortious interference.

Cellulink claimed that Bell South, by causing the cancellation of the kiosk lease, tortiously interfered with its lease with Walmart. Bell South appealed a multimillion dollar jury verdict against it on this claim to the Alabama Supreme Court. On appeal, Cellulink contended that Bell South had "tricked" Walmart into helping Bell South remove Cellulink from the Walmart store. In rejecting this argument, and reversing the verdict, the Court found that Bell South was a party to the Walmart/Cellulink lease, and therefore, since Bell South was not a stranger to that business relationship, as a matter of law Bell South could not be liable for tortious interference.

There is no dispute that Allan, Val, Jay, and Roil Energy, were all parties to the proposed plan or proposed transaction. Since Val, Allan, Jay, and Roil Energy were all parties to this proposed business relationship there can be no tortious interference claims between them as a matter of law.

Allan argues that Roil Energy is a separate and distinct entity, and thus cannot be considered a party to the alleged or proposed business relationship between Val, Allan, and Jay<sup>2</sup>. As set forth above, in order to prevail on the tortious interference claim, Allan must establish that Val was an inter-meddling third party i.e. a stranger to the business relationship involving Roil Energy.

Allan, Val, Jay, and Roil Energy were not strangers to the proposed joint venture or proposed reverse merger. Any business expectancy of Allan, Val, and Jay necessarily involved Roil Energy and were bound together as an integral part of the proposed reverse merger plan being discussed amongst the parties. In the record before the trial court on defendants' motion for partial summary judgment on the tortious interference claim, Alan Holms testified in his deposition that Roil Energy, APD, and Bakken were one. CP 2181, 2182, 2185. Allan went on to explain in his deposition that Roil Energy was never intended to be an operating company as evidenced by the fact that no operating agreement was ever executed by Allan, Jay, and Val with respect to Roil Energy. CP 2182.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In their brief, appellants make no argument that Bakken Resources, Inc. or Holms Energy, LLC tortiously interfered with any business expectancies. An argument or issue not raised in appellant's opening brief will not be considered. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

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